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Chapter 1





My time in politics was over before it had begun.


So I thought as I surveyed the front page with some dismay. The headline in the Sussex Express screamed out: ‘Buttering Up Voters Claim’.


It was April 1987 and I was living in an old railway cottage close to the level crossing on the A27 at Beddingham, just outside Lewes. A couple of months earlier, there had been a knock at the door. A man I had never met before, nor heard of, asked me if I would stand for the Liberals for the local council election in May.


‘Don’t worry, you won’t get in,’ he told me reassuringly.


I had joined the party some six years earlier in Islington, and promptly forgot I had done so. Eventually someone from the local party contacted me and asked me to go canvassing. I had no idea what this entailed or why we wanted to do it but I gamely made myself available one evening to traipse round the houses that bordered the old Arsenal stadium. The experience was bewildering and one I found rather embarrassing and I resolved not to do that again.


So I became a sleeping member of the Liberal Party, and in fact joined the Green Party as well shortly after we moved to Sussex in 1985, as I liked bits of both parties. I suppose in retrospect I could have been expelled from one or the other had this become known, but at the time, it seemed to me quite a natural thing to do.


Then came that knock on the door, from Gordon Hook, a Liberal councillor in the nearby village of Ringmer. At the time I was scraping by, teaching English as a foreign language, and without any clear idea what I wanted to do, so I decided that standing for election might be an interesting diversion, and agreed on the basis that I would not win.


Although I confess I have used a similar reassurance myself a number of times since with individuals I have cajoled to stand, some of whom have indeed ended up being elected, it was reasonable in this instance to assume that I would not. After all, the council ward was held by the Conservative leader of the council, Roy Robinson, and we had not even fought the seat for some elections past.


So, under Gordon’s guidance, I set about my short campaign. This involved producing my own leaflets, under the generic Liberal banner of ‘Focus’. In the days before word processors, these were produced by typing up sections of text to fit the allocated space on the folded A4 piece of paper that was to be the leaflet. The sections were then cut out and attached to the A4 paper with gum, and the leaflet given a modicum of interest by the addition of generic artwork supplied by the Association of Liberal Councillors – drawings of pound notes slipping down drains, or buses, or traffic signs. Anything really. The range was endless. It took absolutely ages to produce what would now take less than half an hour.


The council ward was called Ouse Valley, and encompassed the villages of Glynde and Firle, together with the small settlements of Beddingham and Tarring Neville, and a place called South Heighton, which was either a village adjacent to Newhaven or a suburb of it, depending on your point of view.


Glynde and Firle were both estate-owned villages, and indeed still are, where virtually every house is owned respectively by the Hampden family or the Gage family. A certain frisson exists between the villages going back to the English Civil War, when Glynde was parliamentarian and Firle royalist, which nowadays is largely for effect, but not entirely.


Firle is now a dead end, since the old coach road to Eastbourne was superseded by the A27 a long time ago, and in the 1980s, visitors to the pub, the Ram Inn, tended to be relatively rare. So when a rep arrived one lunchtime, the pub went quiet as he entered. To break the silence, he said brightly: ‘I came through a nice village on the way here. It was called Glynde,’ whereupon the landlord suggested he might go there for a drink – I paraphrase.


Later, after I had been elected to Glynde and Beddingham Parish Council, there was a serious discussion as to whether residents of Firle ought to be allowed to use Glynde’s swimming pool.


I am happy to say that the Ram Inn is much more accommodating these days, though the semi-feudal nature of the villages persists. Lord Hampden and Lord Gage have each majestically let it be known that they do not approve of Lib Dem posters appearing on estate houses, though it has not always stopped residents from displaying them.


There used to be an unwritten deal, at least in Glynde, that rents were kept low but maintenance was pretty non-existent, though one year, with unfortunate timing, rents in the village were jacked up shortly after it had been revealed that Lord Hampden had donated £39,000 to the Satanist conman Derry Mainwaring-Knight to enable him allegedly to buy some satanic regalia for the purpose of destroying it. In the event, it was used to buy a Rolls-Royce.


Nowadays, rents in both villages have increased significantly as they are opened up to DFLs (new, richer tenants Down From London).


So it was in Firle one bright morning that I began my canvassing. The second door I knocked on was opened by a friendly woman who beamed at me when she saw my shiny new yellow rosette.


‘A Liberal!’ she exclaimed. ‘Do come in for a cup of tea.’


I now know that it is not a good use of canvassing time to spend too long at any one particular address, as it stops you meeting other people, and sometimes, I have discovered, people of different political views will even try to keep you talking precisely to stop you getting round.


A liberal-minded friend of mine living in a predominantly Tory area in London has taken this one stage further by inviting a Tory canvasser in, and then making a series of increasingly right-wing propositions to see how far right he could go – castrating sex offenders, for example – before the Tory disagreed with him. Alarmingly, he got rather a long way before this happened, by which time almost half an hour had been lost to the canvasser.


In my case, no such duplicity was intended. The woman was genuinely nice, and, after my initial reluctance, I began to think that canvassing might be quite a pleasant activity after all. But as I was taking the cup of tea to my lips, she ventured: ‘Yes, I’ve always been a Liberal. The sooner they bring back hanging, the better.’


What should I do? Tell her that was not Liberal policy and lose her vote? No, I changed the subject. And there was my first political compromise.


April came and Gordon, who I think must have been quite pleased with the way I was approaching the election, told me that he had access to some butter from the EEC butter mountain – excess production kept in cold storage – and perhaps I could make some available to pensioners in the villages.


I do not think I was clear how this was to be done, but, duly armed with boxes of butter, I sought out the good pensioners of Firle to hand this out. I must have been naive, for I was taken by surprise by that headline in the Sussex Express.


I read the story glumly:




Three boxes of butter from the EEC mountain are at the centre of a political storm raging in the village of Firle.


Parish councillors claim that the Liberal Party candidate in the forthcoming district elections has been vote-catching by distributing packets of butter to pensioners in the village – and then announcing he was their local candidate.





The story also correctly reported that the voluntary bodies that had been given the task of distribution – the WRVS, Age Concern and the Salvation Army – did not have the structure to get the butter out to some villages, which was why others had got involved.


The story appeared on Friday 24 April, less than two weeks before polling day, and I thought I had blown it. So it was with trepidation that I went back to Firle the next day to continue my canvassing.


To my surprise, I received a warm reception all round. Eventually I asked one villager if he had not seen the local paper. ‘Oh yes,’ he replied. ‘Of course you were trying to get us to vote for you, but at least you gave us something. More than the Tories ever have.’


In Glynde, a wizened old resident told me confidently: ‘You’re going to win.’


It turned out his certainty was based on the fact that I had managed to persuade the residents of two opposite houses in the village each to display a poster for me. He explained that one was socialist in tooth and claw, and the other very right-wing. ‘Anyone who gets the same poster up at them two houses will win, sure as I’m standing here,’ he said.


It was true that I had talked them both round, one tactically because he hated the Tories, the other because she thought I was a nice young man. She had even invited me into her house, where I was alarmed to see a small signed photo of Adolf Hitler in a silver frame on her dresser.


And so to the count, which took place in a draughty South Heighton village hall – a straight contest between the Conservatives and the Liberals.


On one side of the room stood the Tory council leader, Roy Robinson, surrounded by the great and the good – the men smart country types, the women not quite in twinsets and pearls, but almost.


On our side there was my partner and I, and just about the only other Liberal member in the ward, Brian Knight.


When I had asked for a list of members and was told Brian was my best bet, I set about finding him, which was no easy task. Brian lived in Keeper’s Cottage in Glynde, a house about a mile or two down a track and literally in the middle of nowhere. I eventually did locate it, with the help of the local postman, and arrived one day and banged on the door. Nobody answered, but it was clear that someone was at home. I banged again with the same result. But having found the place, I was not about to give up, so went round to the back and opened the kitchen door. The family were round the table.


I introduced myself as the Liberal candidate and explained I had knocked at the front. Brian was very welcoming and invited me in.


‘Did you not hear me knock?’ I asked, puzzled.


‘Oh yes,’ he replied. ‘But when I saw you with your briefcase, I assumed you were a Jehovah’s Witness. Nobody else ever comes down here.’


So we stood in the village hall, the two sides, hovering close to the table where the first box was opened, the one from Glynde. It was clear that the vote was finely balanced. The Tory Great and Good were muttering to themselves and gradually, almost imperceptibly, moving away from their candidate.


The Glynde box fell in my favour 120–108, the one from Firle 98–37, and the one from South Heighton 301–151. Only the handful of postal votes went to the Tories.


By the time the result was declared, the Tory Great and Good had physically abandoned their candidate and moved well away in a huddle. I was shocked by this. Yes, he had lost, but Roy Robinson was, as far as I could tell, a good man who had in his own old-fashioned way done his best both for the Conservatives and for his electors over many years. How callous of them to walk away from him just when he needed their support. So it was left to us three Liberals to commiserate with him after the declaration.


And so, at twenty-nine, I found myself on two councils: Lewes District, and Glynde and Beddingham Parish, the election to which was on the same day and where I had put myself forward on Gordon’s advice, and not on a party label.


The parish council was a sleepy affair, comprising three local farmers, two old Sussex boys and me. Lord Hampden got himself co-opted onto the council after the election. Clearly, he had not wanted to test his support publicly, or perhaps being a member of the House of Lords he was averse to elections. I did not think it appropriate that the man who owned the village should also be on the council, but if anyone else shared that view, they did not say so.


The parish would meet about once every six weeks for about two hours. There was phenomenally little business to discuss. The odd bench to place, the occasional planning application upon which to comment, the odd district or county consultation to which to respond.


The council was technically two councils meeting together – Glynde and Beddingham. It met in those days in the old schoolroom in Glynde, but once a year, for legal reasons, was obliged to meet in Beddingham. This was a formality, and such meetings rarely lasted more than five minutes. The council was never one to want to waste money – indeed, its main focus appeared to be to spend as little as possible – so there was reluctance to hire a room for such a short meeting.


Accordingly, the annual meeting would often be held on the pavement outside the Reading Room, with the parish clerk conducting business as cars passed by, after which the members of the council would retire to the next-door Trevor Arms.


To begin with, there was undoubtedly a certain hostility towards me from some of the parish council, with the exception of a lovely old boy with a wonderful Sussex burr called Alec Mepham, who was secretly delighted I was stirring the pot. Alec was really a Labour Party supporter but always voted for me, and would have done even if Labour had ever stood in local elections there.


He once told me with some relish how he was canvassed by Sue Rathbone, the rather posh wife of the Tory MP Tim, shortly before the 1997 election which saw me gain my parliamentary seat.


‘Will you be voting for Tim?’ she enquired.


‘Nope.’


‘Oh,’ replied Mrs Rathbone, in that rather strangulated voice only Tories of a certain class can manage. ‘Why not?’


‘Because I’ve lived here over thirty year and I ain’t never once set eyes on your husband in this village.’


In the end, I think the parish council came round to accepting me and I was touched when, in 1999, I was asked if I would stand again for election. Having been elected to Parliament two years earlier, I had naturally planned to stand down, but I did carry on for one more four-year term, making me, I think, one of only two MPs at the time to also be a parish councillor. My sixteen-year stint ended in 2003.


The district council was naturally rather livelier than the parish. I was summoned to the council offices and had no idea what to expect. Indeed, I had no idea how councils worked or even who, with the exception of Gordon, the other Liberal councillors were. The election had seen a small swing to the Liberals, but still left the Tories firmly in control, with thirty-four seats against eleven Liberals and three Independents.


I stood in the members’ room, alone amid a gaggle of people, none of whom I knew. A man came up to me. It was, I later learnt, Keith Moorhouse, the Tory councillor for Plumpton, who had been elected as Tory leader in emergency session following my defeat of their previous leader.


‘So you’re the man who defeated Roy Robinson,’ he said to me, and I nodded. ‘What a tragedy a man like that should fall a fence like this,’ he spat out, then turned on his heel. Councillor Moorhouse and I would have many run-ins over the next few years.


The council members then made their way to the debating chamber, where it turned out membership and chairmanship of committees was to be decided. Rather than this having been decided between the groups beforehand, a cumbersome and somewhat farcical process ensued. This entailed all those who had been nominated by the two groups to sit on a particular committee coming together in a huddle to elect their chairman and vice-chairman. Given that the Tories had a clear majority and therefore took all the positions, what the purpose of this charade was I still do not understand. And as it was common for councillors to sit on more than one committee, proceedings had to take place almost sequentially to ensure that all members of the committee in question were in the relevant huddle.


I was asked at one point by a Conservative if I would be the Liberal representative on the Cinematographic Licensing sub-committee. There were three members, he explained, and proportionality required that there be two Conservatives and one Liberal. He further explained, in response to my question, that the sub-committee’s job was to decide whether films should be approved for screening in the district.


This sounded like fun, and I readily agreed. It was only afterwards that I found out that there was no cinema in the district and that the sub-committee had never met.


I soon learnt that the council was not short of such unintentional idiocies. Although it had only been created in 1974, it seemed to belong to a much earlier era.


There was a council crest rather than a logo, all the offices shut for lunch between 1 p.m. and 2 p.m., and there was no real attempt to communicate anything the council was doing to its electorate or indeed to solicit any views they might have.


The council was run by its chief executive, Cyril Mann. He was a local government official of the old school who was very proud of his council and resistant to change. I rather liked him in a funny sort of way, though I am not sure the feeling was mutual.


He was somewhat short and it was noticeable that many of the chief officers he had appointed to his management team were of similar stature. He would sit in a high-backed swivel chair at meetings of the chief officers. It was the only such chair in the room. It was also the seat used by the Lib Dem group leader, David Bellotti, to chair group meetings.


I disliked this chair and the hierarchy it shouted out, and resolved to get rid of it if I ever got the chance.


At the first committee I attended, the wonderfully named General Purposes Committee, Cyril brought forward a madcap scheme to cut the council’s traditional solid oak tables in half. For, while committee meetings took place upstairs in the town hall, then a district council building, the room was too small for full council meetings, so the council had to use the county council’s debating chamber.


The county council premises was almost literally across the road, but Cyril, fiercely independent for his council, objected to having to use it, and I did get the impression that the county would sometimes make it difficult for the hire to be arranged, probably just to annoy Cyril. The final straw for him, it appears, was when district members were refused use of the county councillors’ members’ room and the heating in the chamber was switched off halfway through a district council meeting.


So Cyril’s answer to this situation was to make the cramped town hall room work by slicing all the council’s oak tables in half, lengthwise. That way, he argued, there would be just enough room for the full council to meet in its own premises. The cost of this, and for improved ventilation, was to be around £25,000.


I wondered what sort of mad organisation I had joined. On a practical point, I did not understand how a table which had been cut in half would actually stand up. Nor did I understand how the tables would be narrow for council meetings, but restored to full width for committee meetings, as the plan envisaged.


What I did understand was that the council was planning to spend a lot of money to cut up attractive old tables, and I told the committee that I thought those who supported the idea were ‘vandals in suits’. Uproar ensued and the chair of the committee demanded I withdraw the word vandal, but I refused. In the end, the tables were not sliced, and the district continued using the county council’s chamber.


About six months into my first term, south-east England was hit by a very violent storm that saw trees blown over and much damage done. As a keen new councillor, I thought I would come into the council offices to see what I could do to help. Living on the main A27, the road into Lewes was clear, unlike many other roads, where fallen trees made passage impossible.


I arrived and headed for the main back office. I opened the door and was greeted with the sound of telephones ringing everywhere and the sight of one poor employee in the corner looking very harassed. I picked up the nearest phone and said in my best voice: ‘Lewes District Council. Can I help you?’


It was a local resident, furious that her rubbish had not been collected that morning.


Unknown to me, David Bellotti had also decided to come in to help, and he had headed for the nerve centre set up by Cyril to co-ordinate the council’s response. This was based in one of the temporary huts the council used. In the hut, Cyril had laid out piles of paper neatly and methodically on the table. Unfortunately, when David opened the door, all the papers blew off.


I enjoyed my opposition years on the council, from 1987 to 1991. The Tory administration was flat-footed, hidebound and sluggish. It was the fun of a speedboat dancing round a container vessel.


They would tend to react to any radical idea with spluttering apoplexy, never more so than to the motion I tabled to full council requiring all councillors who were members of a Freemasons’ lodge to declare this.


I make this sound like a wheeze but I genuinely felt, and still do, that those who take decisions on our behalf need to be open about any outside interests they have that might influence the decisions they take. It is the same reason I would commit much time subsequently to campaigning for freedom of information legislation, and for the publication of MPs’ expenses.


Naturally, the ruling Conservatives wanted no truck with a motion put forward by the Liberals. In fact, I do not recall them ever accepting any proposal we put forward on anything, even if they secretly agreed with it. Every vote went straight down the party line. They had even contemptuously rejected my suggestion that the council should use recycled paper, with the Tory leader stating that he had no intention of using ‘toilet paper’ for council business.


Publicly, council leader Keith Moorhouse slammed the idea of requiring masons to make themselves known, calling it a ‘witch-hunt’.


But then something happened. The Tories were advised by chief executive Cyril Mann that, while they could of course vote the motion down, any who were masons would have to declare an interest in that specific item of business and not vote. In other words, even if the Tories rejected the motion, we would find out who all the masons were. It was a delicious ruling.


The Tories were furious and even took the unprecedented step of ringing the Liberal group leader, David Bellotti, to urge him to get me to withdraw the motion before the council meeting the following Wednesday. David told them, quite correctly, that even if he were to ask me, I would not withdraw it.


So the meeting came, and council leader Keith Moorhouse went into orbit, variously accusing me of being ‘Machiavellian, impudent, mischievous’ and guilty of ‘sheer wickedness’. One by one, the masons dramatically stood up to declare their membership before walking out, eight of them, all Conservatives. The mood was tense, broken only by Tory councillor Trevor Bennett, an undertaker, who stood up to declare an interest as a ‘monumental stonemason’.


Keith Moorhouse was a curious chap. He had been on the council since its inception and was soon to retire from his post at Plumpton Agricultural College in his ward. He had a habit of writing down everything that was said in council and committee meetings, for what purpose nobody knew. He never seemed to refer to his copious notes at any subsequent point. Allegedly, he stored them all in a shed in his garden.


He appeared to have no sense of humour and little self-awareness. At one council meeting, when we were protesting about Clause 28, the Tory prohibition on gay material being properly discussed in schools, he made a speech that began veering towards the homophobic. This led to disapproving noises from our side, and he felt the need to explain that he was not against people being gay, merely the promotion of homosexuality.


‘I’ve nothing against homosexuals,’ he told the council. ‘I just don’t want it forced down my throat.’


At another meeting, the council met shortly after a town council by-election in the Lewes Bridge ward which we had won and where the Tories had come last, in fourth place. David Bellotti made a gently amusing speech to mark the event, which culminated in him leaving his seat, walking over to Keith Moorhouse and gently placing in front of him a wooden spoon adorned with a yellow ribbon. He then quietly walked back to his seat.


Nothing happened for what seemed like ages, but was probably merely a few seconds, then Keith Moorhouse grabbed the spoon, stormed across to the Liberal side of the chamber, and smashed the spoon down in front of our group leader, now back in his place.


There was no question, however, of his diligence and commitment to his role. Cyril Mann told me of an occasion when he was arm-twisted by Keith Moorhouse into attending a very dull meeting in Plumpton village hall, one which in no way justified the attendance of the council’s chief executive. At the end of this torrid evening, the Tory leader asked Cyril if he would like to stop by on his way home for a drink. Cyril brightened at the idea and readily agreed, and the two repaired to Keith’s house, just down the lane from the hall.


Inside, with Cyril sitting comfortably, Keith rubbed his hands and asked: ‘Cocoa or hot chocolate?’


Keith ruled his group with a rod of iron. The Tories seemed to accept this, though some clearly resented it. One such councillor was the member for Ditchling, a lovely old lady called Muriel Benham, who would always mutter amusing complaints about him to me. Muriel really regarded herself as an Independent, but had been forced to stand under the Tory banner to avoid an official challenge from that party in her ward.


Ditchling at the time contained two formidable women who vied for the unofficial title of Queen of Ditchling. One was Muriel and the other was Vera Lynn. Their approaches could not have been more different. While Muriel would always chat to me, and even invited me round for afternoon tea on one occasion – the only person I have ever known who had one of those three-tiered cake stands and actually worked her way up it – Vera Lynn would always ignore me, even after I was elected as MP and we ended up as the only two people in the back of a car together – presumably because I was a Liberal, she being a staunch Tory. Perhaps I was not regal enough.


Looking back, I can see that in my first two years on the council I pressed for a number of policies that have since won through, including free TV licences for pensioners and a universally available concessionary bus fares scheme, as well as an end to uncontrolled dumping of chemicals at sea, the banning of stubble burning, and improved efforts to clean up local beaches.


My first big campaign was against the aerial spraying of pesticides, and reflected my strong commitment to the environment, which, along with issues of civil liberties and justice, drove my political interest to a large extent.


It began when I received a complaint from a local resident who had been sitting in her garden in Denton, near Newhaven, when an aeroplane passed overhead, releasing spray doubtless intended for the fields close by. Within minutes she fell ill and was taken to hospital, where blood tests revealed traces of six different pesticides including the then banned DDT.


Another complaint produced a similar story. A woman accidentally sprayed in her garden was rushed to hospital with liver problems. Shortly afterwards, all the fish in her pond were found dead.


I raised the issue in the local press and this generated around twenty-five similar stories from the Lewes area. This suggested to me that what I had uncovered was the tip of the iceberg and I resolved to look into the matter in depth.


What I found concerned me greatly. I discovered that there were thirty-eight pesticides on sale in the UK that had been banned or severely restricted elsewhere in the world; that the methods for applying the chemicals were highly inaccurate, leading to droplets so small they evaporated into the air or so large that they rolled off the target crop onto the ground; and that apparently significant numbers of people were having their health adversely affected and nobody seemed to be doing anything about it.


My investigations led to my producing a 57-page report, which I launched at a well-attended public meeting in Lewes. Other speakers included Tony Monnington, a local farmer, a representative from the agrochemical industry and one from Friends of the Earth.


The agrochemical industry seemed intent on denying that there was any sort of a problem. They even argued that more people were injured each year by deckchairs than by pesticides. They were able to do so, I suppose, because if a person was injured by a deckchair, it was clear what the cause was, whereas linking a condition to pesticide exposure was more difficult to prove.


Back in 1988, I was naive and had not yet come to understand the nuances of politics or the drivers of behaviour. I think I must have believed that I was the first to unearth the scale of the health implications of pesticide use at the time, and that having demonstrated beyond reasonable doubt that there was a problem, action would of course follow. I failed to understand what I would later learn – that in society there are vested interests that do not necessarily want to correct problems, and those interests may well use their influence with elected politicians to ensure action is in fact not taken.


In this instance, there was some support for change from the farmers themselves. Firstly, they were in the front line for any complaints, and secondly, inefficient use of pesticides was expensive.


I sent my report to the government via MP Tim Rathbone, which elicited the reply from employment minister Patrick Nicholls that I was being ‘unduly alarmist’. I countered by suggesting that he was being ‘dangerously complacent’.


Notwithstanding the minister’s response, aerial spraying was banned soon afterwards, and today, the substances available tend to be safer and applied far more accurately. I like to think that I played some part in this, however nebulous.


Certainly, individuals with commitment, a good idea and fortunate timing can make a difference, and they do not have to be ministers or even MPs.


Take the case of the Lewes Lib Dem councillor Ian Eiloart. It was he who first suggested that it would be a good policy to raise the threshold at which income tax became payable. That was subsequently adopted by the Lib Dem conference, made its way into the 2010 manifesto, then the coalition agreement, and became the most widely recognised and popular Lib Dem achievement of the coalition.


The whole pesticides episode had made me even more interested in the environment in all its manifestations, and this has remained with me as a constant ever since.


Incidentally, my pesticide campaign also generated my first ever TV interview, on what was then TVS, predecessor to Meridian. I was quietly pleased with the piece and how I came across, and even more so when I wandered into Lloyds Bank in Lewes the following day. There, the cashier eyed me quizzically from behind the screen and asked: ‘Weren’t you on TV last night?’ I beamed and nodded.


‘TVS about half six?’ I nodded again.


‘You’re the weatherman, aren’t you,’ she exclaimed, and before I had a chance to say anything, added: ‘What’s the weather going to be like today?’


Taken aback, I mumbled something that corresponded roughly to what I had heard on the radio that morning, completed my transaction, and left the bank, thinking the exchange mildly amusing.


I thought no more of it until the next time I went into the bank and the same woman saw me and again asked me for the forecast for that day. Again, I offered something short and relatively meaningless, and left, this time a bit more worried.


On the third occasion she asked me, I came clean and explained the situation. She was terribly disappointed that I was not the weatherman, not a celebrity, but merely an elected local councillor. Thereafter, whenever I sensed that I might get carried away with myself, I recalled that episode, and that politicians come below journalists and only just above estate agents in the public’s estimation.


Much of my time in my early days, as it was throughout my time in politics, was spent on pursuing a myriad of issues raised with me by those I was elected to represent, whether personal to them or general to the community in which they lived. In the case of the latter, I would dutifully feed back both the issue and what I had done about it in my regular Focus leaflets.


One issue I took up was the need for speed limits in the villages I represented. Incredibly, the national speed limit applied through Glynde and Firle, despite their being settlements with houses packed closely together. As part of my campaign, I asked the county council for the accident record for Glynde. The county replied, deadpan, to inform me that there had only been one reported accident in the previous four years, when a 61-year-old man on a bicycle had collided with a bullock.


One campaign that has sadly not yet come to fruition is the one to reopen the Lewes-to-Uckfield railway line, which I began in 1988, supporting the work of the Wealden Line campaign.


The line had been closed in 1969, not by Beeching or indeed by British Rail, but by East Sussex County Council, who wanted to build a new road into Lewes, the Phoenix Causeway: the railway line was in the way. British Rail actually opposed the closure, as the line was profitable, but it went ahead anyway.


One of the last steps I took as an MP was to persuade Danny Alexander, as Chief Secretary to the Treasury, to include £100,000 in the last coalition Budget for a further study, which I hope will finally lead to the line reopening.


However, it was another transport campaign around that time that would lead to more interesting developments for me, involving MI5 and a test case several years later in the courts. It was during the early 1990s that the then Conservative government decided to embark on ‘the biggest road-building programme since Roman times’. This included highly controversial schemes such as the Newbury bypass and a proposal to replace the single-carriageway A27 from Polegate to Lewes with a new, off-line dual carriageway. This was particularly controversial and led to the formation of a well-organised and effective opposition called the A27 Action Group.


I was clear that the scheme was a bad one, and the more I looked into it, the more convinced I became. Firstly, it proposed to cut a swathe through some of the most beautiful countryside in Sussex, an effect worsened by the unsympathetic design of the scheme. In particular, I was horrified by the intrusive, clunky bridge that was to replace the level crossing at Beddingham. This was high, ugly and would clearly detract from the familiar landmark of nearby Mount Caburn, notable for its shape rather than its height.


It also became established that 40 per cent of the traffic was local and would stay on the existing unimproved road, probably at higher speeds, thereby worsening the accident rate overall.


The public outcry was substantial, aided by another public meeting in Lewes at which the Department’s plans were advanced by a sour and bad-tempered official, only helping to solidify the opposition to the road.


The scheme was eventually dropped and I began to pursue an alternative approach, namely of on-line improvements to make the road safer, and encouragement to use the parallel railway.


I am pleased to say that this approach proved effective and the accident rate improved markedly over the following years. Moreover, when the level crossing at Beddingham was finally replaced by a bridge, the new section of road was carefully designed and fitted the contours of the landscape very well.


None of this stopped the siren voices, from Eastbourne in particular, rather arrogantly and with scant regard for the views of local people continuing to demand a dual carriageway with monotonous regularity. They professed concern about the accident rate, but really were only interested in knocking a few minutes off the journey time from Polegate to Lewes, at whatever cost to the taxpayer. They seemed singularly uninterested in the A259 from Eastbourne to Hastings, which had a much worse accident record.


In terms of the other element to the strategy, namely promoting the parallel railway, I eventually succeeded in persuading Southern that they should cut their fares between Eastbourne and Lewes, on the basis that they had to run long trains to pick up London commuters at Lewes and Haywards Heath, and so ought to try to attract onto rail the many white-collar workers who were based in Lewes, the administrative centre and county town of East Sussex.


Accordingly, Southern cut their season ticket fares by about a third, and saw an increase in passenger traffic along the corridor of about the same amount. The managing director, Chris Burchell, told me the company had actually made a small profit from the initiative.


So the rail company gained, the rail passengers gained, and indeed the road users along the A27 gained, as traffic volumes decreased slightly. And all this at no cost to the public purse, unlike the alternative proposal to spend over half a billion pounds of public money on a new and highly destructive road. The £75 million subsequently announced by the Chancellor in the 2014 budget for on-line improvements got the balance right.


Later, when I was a transport minister, I persuaded my colleague Mike Penning, the roads minister, to install two unconventional signs along the road, which read ‘Lewes to Eastbourne 20 mins by train’, on a blue background adorned by a red National Rail sign. This reinforced the attractiveness of the rail option – the journey by road was at least half an hour and generally longer in the rush hour – and as a bonus annoyed the unreconstructed road lobby in Eastbourne.

















Chapter 2





My first two years as a councillor had been stimulating and enjoyable and I resolved to widen my political field of activity. The changes came thick and fast.


I put myself forward for election to East Sussex County Council, for the Telscombe division, which included my district ward, and the villages on the other side of the Ouse in another Liberal ward, Kingston. But two-thirds of the division was in unpromising territory, in Telscombe Cliffs and East Saltdean. So it was a good result to turn a Tory majority of 512 in 1985 to a Liberal one of 211 in May 1989 and take the seat.


The same week, I received the news that I had been successful in my application to become the Liberals’ environment campaigner, based in the party’s Whips’ Office in the House of Commons. This is despite the fact that I had berated the party’s then environment spokesman, Malcolm Bruce MP, for holding interviews in London just a week or so ahead of the county elections.


The Evening Argus conflated the two events, declaring I was ‘just green with joy’ and running the story next to a photo of me looking as miserable as sin.


The county council proved to be rather less rigid than the district in its approach to matters. Although it had a Conservative majority, it was more willing to look at issues on their merits. The council unanimously agreed, for example, to a proposal I put forward to oppose an EU move to require compulsory testing of cosmetics on animals. That such an idea could even be seriously considered by the EU shows how far we have moved in a quarter of a century.


It also agreed to my suggestion that the council should only use dolphin-friendly tuna in its catering.


My new job in the House of Commons was based upstairs in the Whips’ Office, just off central lobby. We were a small team of fewer than ten, but it was to prove to be a good intake. Three of us – Ed Davey, Adrian Sanders and myself – would go on to win parliamentary seats in 1997, while Tavish Scott and Liam McArthur would end up as MSPs in the Scottish Parliament.


My areas of responsibility were very wide. On my own, I had to cover environment, energy, animal welfare and food and agriculture. I remember bumping into a Labour researcher who told me his area of responsibility was wind power. I am sure that he knew more about that area than I did, but I doubt if he was able to create the broader context into which to place what he knew, as I was forced to do.


Interest in the environment was in fact at an all-time high. The Green Party had just scored almost 15 per cent in the European elections and, in those first-past-the-post days, had won no seats.


My party, suffering from the fallout of a painful merger between the Liberals and the SDP, with David Owen insisting on maintaining a ‘continuing SDP’, suffered badly, and in East Sussex, where I was agent for our candidate Delia Venables, we came fourth. The rump of the SDP staggered on until they fell behind the Monster Raving Loony Party in a by-election, whereupon David Owen mercifully pulled the plug.


In my first week in the Whips’ Office, in spring 1989, Paddy Ashdown, our new leader, came round to say hello to all the staff. He was remarkably cheerful given that, as I learnt shortly afterwards, we were within a week of going bankrupt.


On top of that, there were continual wranglings about matters as basic as what we should call ourselves. ‘Liberal and Social Democrats’ seemed an obvious runner, until someone acidly pointed out that LSD was not necessarily a helpful abbreviation. I preferred ‘Democrats’, which gained some currency in the media, but it was a term that was banned in the Whips’ Office, with fiercely old-school Liberals like the Welsh MP Geraint Howells insisting that the word ‘Liberal’ should always be used. I think in retrospect he was right. So we settled on the cumbersome and rather ridiculous ‘Social and Liberal Democrats’, which predictably ended up with us being known as ‘salads’, until such time as we were able to ditch the first two words. Nor was the 22-strong parliamentary party particularly cohesive. Indeed, being part of two council groups that functioned well, I was dismayed that the MPs seemed to be largely a group of individuals only loosely linked.


The most detached member was David Alton, who seemed to have fallen out with his colleagues some time earlier. David would never come into the Whips’ Office, even to the extent that I would observe him shouting to be heard into the phone immediately outside the office in Members’ Lobby, against the hubbub of countless MPs of all parties. I wanted to ask him why he did not simply step into the Whips’ Office and make his call in peace, but never did.


At this time, all the parties decided they needed to show a bit more interest in the environment, some being more convincing than others. For the Tories, John Gummer showed early enthusiasm, even if at the outset he did confuse climate change with the ozone layer, and Chris Patten showed genuine concern.


Of course, this new-found attention to the environment was something I very much welcomed. I hastily put together a project called Campaign Earth, to keep our long-standing green credentials up front, and to give our council base something to campaign on locally. Malcolm Bruce and I launched it together in a room in the House, complete with organic vegetarian food. I am not sure the journalists who attended were very impressed with this aspect.


The launch did not get much coverage, but then, prior to the successful Eastbourne by-election, nothing we did at that point did, even when it produced a good story.


I had, for example, written round to each of the water companies to establish their leakage levels, something that to my knowledge had never been done before. The results were startling, with leakage levels up to 40 per cent. Amazingly, they had all replied and I was able to produce a table – a nice, strong story, all parcelled up for a journalist.


But nobody wanted to bite. As far as the media were concerned in late 1989, we were an irrelevance. Eventually, the BBC, conceding that the story was a good one, agreed to run it, but they would only do so if it was fronted by Paddy Ashdown rather than Malcolm Bruce, despite our protestations.


So Paddy trundled over to the BBC. The first question they asked him was:


‘Mr Ashdown, aren’t you a one-man band?’


I mentioned that my researcher’s brief was wide, and energy policy also featured prominently during my time as the party’s environment campaigner.


The country was seeing the tail-end of the big pit-closure programme that had followed the ill-fated 1984 miners’ strike. In late 1989, Malcolm Bruce got involved in the campaign to save Betteshanger Colliery in Kent. The pit, like so many, was marked for closure, but unlike others, the workforce had put together a plan to keep it open as a sort of miners’ co-operative.


Malcolm thought this was a good idea, and tried to help, but his enthusiasm was not shared on either the right or the left. The Conservatives were still vindictively trying to close as many pits as possible, and Labour did not want to be seen to be opposing the National Union of Mineworkers (NUM), especially after the controversial creation of the Nottinghamshire-based Union of Democratic Miners during the strike.


Both were content, therefore, for the plan to fail and when, despite their opposition, it looked like it was gaining legs, the National Coal Board, presumably with the tacit consent of the NUM, went in and smashed all the equipment in the pit. This was hard politics and it was not attractive.


Each of the parties decided it needed a solid document on the environment, and I was charged by Paddy and our new environment spokesman, Simon Hughes, with producing ours.


The result was a weighty tome called ‘What Price Our Planet?’, which covered just about every environmental issue going. Reflecting the title, there was an economics section, tying together the environment and the economy in a way that was at least fifteen years ahead of its time. That section was written largely by the party’s economics researcher, Ed Davey, later to be Energy Secretary in the coalition government, and the local government section at the back by one Paul Burstow, from 1997 MP for Sutton, and from 2010 a minister at the Department of Health.


Although inevitably now somewhat dated, ‘What Price Our Planet?’ was ahead of its time, dealing with such matters as genetic engineering, then barely heard of.


The document was finished right on publication deadline, about six o’clock one morning after an all-night session. Simon, who had essentially left me and Ed Davey to get on with it, seemed pleased with the result, with one exception. Reflecting his Christian beliefs, he disliked the Gaia approach I had written into the document, preferring one where man has dominion over all other forms of life. Having worked myself almost to a standstill to meet publication deadline, I did not appreciate this philosophical discussion in the middle of the night.


Checking through my old cuttings for the research for this book, I came across a piece from the Local Government Chronicle from 1994 in which Simon had said: ‘My motive is to serve the person I believe to be the Creator of our world and to make the world more like He intended it to be,’ so perhaps I should not have been so surprised.


The same article, incidentally, revealed that he liked Iron Maiden and was on Top of the Pops once, presumably as an audience member.


Generally, Simon cut an inspirational figure, and not just for a new researcher like me. He seemed, and was, a different sort of politician. He was, however, also intensely irritating about 5 per cent of the time, including his terrible punctuality. He once arrived almost twenty-two hours late for a meeting with me in the Whips’ Office, and kicked off the conversation in blissful disregard of this.


Even then, he had an old taxi, painted orange, which was idiosyncratic but also, he told me, an electoral asset. Everyone knew it was his when he drove around his constituency. Many years later, towards the end of my time as MP, I indulged myself by buying a red Triumph Herald convertible and although I used it relatively rarely, it was astonishing the number of people who recognised it, so I suppose Simon was right on the recognition factor.


Simon’s taxi was not in good condition and took a long time to start, accompanied by copious plumes of black smoke from the exhaust. It was with concern, therefore, that I learnt that a national newspaper wanted to compare the vehicles of each of the three environment spokesmen from the main parties. Astonishingly, Simon’s came out greenest.


One night shortly after my election in 1997, when the House of Commons was sitting very late, Simon offered a lift home in his taxi to two MPs who looked adrift when business had ended – me and Ann Widdecombe.


We duly got in the back of his taxi. Ann and I had never really spoken to each other and were in many regards poles apart, and Simon was separated from us by the taxi driver’s screen. Conversation was both surreal and challenging.


Ann was dropped off first and Simon drove me round to the corner of Bateman Street in the West End, where my flat was. As I got out, offering my thanks, two girls got in, clearly thinking his was a taxi for hire, and asked for Bermondsey, which was of course Simon’s constituency, and off he drove, as I stood gaping from the pavement. He told me the next day he had not charged them.


Working with Simon back in 1990, I learnt that it was not just Lewes District Council that was full of arcane procedures. In fact, it had nothing on the House of Commons.


At the time, there was some interest in the movement of nuclear material, particularly by road, and one day, we discovered that a Private Member’s Bill on the subject had been quietly introduced and was making its way through the legislative machine. These Bills, of which there are a great number, stand little chance of becoming law unless they have government support, as time is limited and it just requires one MP, typically the government duty whip, to shout ‘object’ for the Bill to be delayed and indeed normally lost.


This particular Bill, however, seemed to be making progress, and it became clear to us that this was in fact a government Bill masquerading as one from a backbench MP. But that also meant that it only needed one MP – Simon, for example – to stand up to shout ‘object’ for the Bill to be stopped in its tracks.


Here was an opportunity for us to secure beneficial changes to the Bill in return for allowing its passage into law. Accordingly, a meeting was set up between the relevant minister and Simon, which I was also to attend.


We descended to the bowels of the Commons and opened the door into a dimly lit, windowless room. There sat the minister with about fifteen civil servants. Simon set out what we wanted, knowing we were in a strong position. In the end, we negotiated some good changes, which the minister seemed philosophical about but his civil servants clearly hated.


And so it came to the Friday when the Bill in its amended form was due to go through, but as its title was read out, a Labour MP, who had wandered into the chamber and looked as if he had had a good lunch, shouted ‘object’ and the Bill fell.


On the food front, a party reshuffle had seen responsibility for food issues removed from Geraint Howells, who was seen to be too wedded to the producer interest, and shared between the Southport MP Ronnie Fearn, our health spokesman, and Matthew Taylor, the young MP for Truro.


Ronnie was a lovely guy and popular in the wider party, not least because of his camp stage appearances at party conference, but he lacked the killer instinct. I groaned when he fluffed a line I had written for him – ‘the Tory government has put the botch into botulism’ – by delivering it as if he were John Inman.


Matthew was altogether sharper and had what it took to make an impression and make a difference. He did not really need me to help him, although I did manage to get him onto the front page of the Daily Telegraph with a rather gruesome story about ‘superglue meat’. This was the revelation that, in order not to waste any of the animal, all the bones were scraped clean, added to the gristle and anything else that could be found, and reconstituted with a blood gel to look like prime steak.


It is worth remarking that my research role occurred in a time before the internet, almost before desk computers. I had only a very simple word processor. This meant a lot of my time was spent in the House of Commons library, laboriously trawling through newspapers and magazines, and ordering books from the ever helpful librarians. It also meant keeping a lot of paper files in the Whips’ Office.


Generally, my role was going well and we were regularly scoring hits on the government. Then one morning I came in to find my filing cabinet open. As far as I could tell, the only file that was missing was one entitled ‘Conservatives/Environment’.


In late 1989, my local party decided to set in train the process for selecting its parliamentary candidate to fight the next general election. The Liberals had firmly established second place behind the Conservatives back in the 1970s when Gordon Hook – he who persuaded me to stand for council back in 1987 – had been the candidate. He had flown the flag in 1974 and 1979, and David Bellotti had contested the seat for us in 1983 and 1987.


I was enjoying my politics and being successful. In just two years, I had won elections to three councils and secured a post in Parliament. I decided I wanted to put myself forward for the parliamentary seat.


I told David Bellotti of my decision, which he did not welcome. He thought he should be allowed a third go at the seat, which did not strike me as a very good argument. In fact, given that not much headway had been made into the Conservative majority, if anything, the opposite was true.


In the end, he decided not to seek the nomination again and I was selected to be the parliamentary candidate, with 87.5 per cent of the vote in a two-cornered contest with Uckfield councillor Mike Skinner.


In the curious way events unfold sometimes, this outcome was good for David, as it meant he was free to contest the Eastbourne by-election, which became necessary later that year.


The Eastbourne local party in fact sounded me out at an early stage, but I told them I was committed to Lewes. The other factor was that I love Lewes and the towns and villages in the constituency, but I felt no such emotion for Eastbourne. I also feel strongly that an MP should live in the seat they hope to represent.


The Eastbourne election was caused by the appalling assassination of Conservative MP Ian Gow. The Tory had been a very popular MP, but that did the Tories no good in the by-election, which just goes to show that in politics, gratitude is the expectation of things to come.


David had actually stood in Eastbourne once before, back in 1979, before then contesting Lewes twice, but our private polling at the start of the campaign showed just 4 per cent of the Eastbourne constituency knew who he was. By the end, that figure had risen to 96 per cent, which is some testament to the famous Liberal by-election unit of the time.


The Tory candidate in the by-election, one Richard Hickmet, was completely unknown, and had the misfortune to be photographed on his own in an Eastbourne street consulting a map of the town. It did not help his campaign.


So Eastbourne fell to the Lib Dems, which did wonders for morale, not just locally but across the country. After the horrors of the merger and all the fallout that had generated, we were on our way back.


David’s election meant there was now a vacancy for our group leader on the district council, and I put myself forward for the post. My enthusiasm knew no bounds. The district group accepted me as David’s replacement.


It was an enormously busy time, not least in my own council ward. In the summer, I had been summoned to Cyril Mann’s office in the district council. He wanted to brief me personally on a planning application about to be submitted in my ward.


It turned out that this was for a major £30 million project to build a brand-new opera house adjacent to the existing one at Glyndebourne, and he excitedly showed me the plans.


I looked at them dispassionately.


‘It looks like a gasometer,’ I remarked provocatively.


Cyril went visibly pale, and dropped his voice.


‘You can’t say that. This is a major investment in the district, a matter of pride.’


Now, I did not really object to the concept of building a new opera house, and recognised the unique reputation of Glyndebourne and its role in the cultural life of the country. I did, however, object to the way in which the application was being progressed, with the special treatment afforded to it, which seemed to me to prejudge proper consideration of the scheme by the planning committee. I particularly objected to the chief executive shortly afterwards writing round personally to all forty-eight members of the council to ‘explain’ the scheme.


The application was of course approved, and construction began. This involved a large number of lorries trundling through Glynde village, and I thought it would be a good gesture if Glyndebourne were to recognise the disruption, and make a small financial contribution to the village.


As I have mentioned, Glynde was estate owned and many of the residents were actually quite poor. The 1981 census showed Glynde with a higher percentage of properties dependent on outside toilets than anywhere else in East Sussex.


The children’s playground was in a particularly poor state, with some pieces of equipment out of action, and broken concrete under some others. The estate showed no interest in rectifying this, and the parish council, as usual, was not keen to spend too much money, so I hit upon the idea of asking Glyndebourne to contribute, and wrote to Sir George Christie accordingly.


I pointed out that Glyndebourne was spending £33 million on its project, construction was causing disruption to the village, and it would not be unreasonable to make a financial contribution to the children’s play area. I had in mind about £10,000.


The reply I received was abruptly dismissive, giving short shrift to the idea, and annoyed me. Sir George told the Daily Telegraph: ‘If it was known that Glyndebourne allowed some of its supporters’ money to be siphoned off for the benefit of an unrelated local scheme, our supporters would quickly withdraw.’


£10,000 out of £33 million? I resolved not to give up, and contacted a journalist on TVS to help. The channel at the time had an arts programme, and we concocted an idea to make progress.


Accordingly, TVS contacted Sir George Christie to ask him for an interview about his project, only for him to have to face questions on camera about the children’s equipment in Glynde recreation ground. He was not best pleased, but did as a result send me two opera tickets to auction – a result of sorts, I suppose.


However, there is a happy ending. The children’s equipment today is in a much better state, and Glyndebourne’s new opera house has been a great success, with superb acoustics. And it does not even really look like a gasometer.


As well as my normal council duties, now on three councils, I had to prepare for a full set of district council elections the following May, and for a general election that could come at any time. Michael Heseltine had effectively ousted Margaret Thatcher, only to see John Major take over. As was wryly observed at the time, in the contest between the lion, the witch and the wardrobe, the wardrobe had won.


It was not certain how long the government would last. On the one hand, the Tories were unpopular in the country, not least as a consequence of the self-inflicted wound of the poll tax – or community charge, as ministers, and virtually nobody else, preferred to call it. On the other hand, John Major could present himself as a new face and might just go early to ask for a mandate.


I also had to secure an income, having left the Whips’ Office, so accepted David Bellotti’s suggestion that I act as a caseworker for him in Eastbourne.


Another person who worked for David at this time was Paul Elgood, who went on to become our leader on Brighton and Hove Council. He was walking along Grove Road one day towards David’s office when the then largely unknown Tory candidate Nigel Waterson literally bumped into him, sending him flying into the gutter.


Nigel looked down at him and said: ‘Mind where you’re going!’ before walking off.


David had won Eastbourne with a comfortable majority of 4,350 but the time he would have until the next election was an awkward one. Had it been six months, it is very likely the people of Eastbourne would have given him another chance. Had it been three or four years, there is a strong possibility that he would have dug himself in. As it was, he had eighteen months.


In the event, Nigel Waterson captured the seat from David Bellotti in the 1992 election with a majority of 5,481 and held it until Stephen Lloyd won it back for the Lib Dems in 2010. It was one of only two seats to switch from Tory to Lib Dem at that election and it could not have happened to a more deserving case than Nigel.

















Chapter 3





It was clear in the months preceding the all-out district elections in May 1991 that there was a real chance the Lib Dems would take control of the council. On the face of it, this was a tall order. We went into the election with only twelve seats, compared to thirty for the Tories. But dig beneath the surface and the omens looked good.


First, we were on a roll, having won the Eastbourne by-election and followed that up in March with an even more remarkable victory in Ribble Valley, where a Tory majority of almost 20,000 in their sixth-safest seat turned into a Lib Dem victory by almost 5,000.


Second, the Tories had badly lost the argument over the poll tax and were for the time being stuck with a hugely unpopular policy.


Third, the Lewes District Council area was clearly a straight fight between the Tories and the Lib Dems. Labour had not won a council seat at any level – county, district or town – anywhere in the Lewes constituency since the 1970s, a trend that was to continue at successive elections through to 2015.


I knew that if we were to win the district we would have to make gains on the coast, and in particular in Seaford, which returned twelve of the forty-eight councillors. I also recognised that there was considerable disquiet in the town about how local affairs were being handled.


Seaford was one of only five large towns in the country not to have a town council, although there had been five local referendums between 1980 and 1995 asking whether one should be established. The definitive poll in 1995 would produce a clear Yes vote, and Seaford eventually got its town council in 2001.


Before we took control in 1991, the functions such a council would normally undertake were instead performed by Lewes District Council on its behalf. A semblance of local input was provided by a curious body called the Seaford Consultative Committee. This comprised simply the town’s twelve district councillors meeting together, the same twelve who were then subject to the iron rod and group discipline of Keith Moorhouse when they got to Lewes.


In my view, this so-called committee was nothing but a charade that did nothing for the town and might as well not exist. Nor was it representative of the views of the town at large. The previous election had seen 58 per cent of the town’s votes go to the Tories, and 36 per cent to the Lib Dems, which in my mind suggested that the make-up of the committee, if it was to mean anything, should be seven Conservatives, four Lib Dems and one other.


My approach in those days was rather more acerbic and tabloid than it later became, and I issued a press statement calling for reform, and labelling the committee ‘a creaking, undemocratic, unrepresentative self-appointed body of yesmen’.


Naturally, the response from the Seaford Tories was one of angry indignation, but there was a good deal of spontaneous support in the letters pages of the local paper, the Seaford Gazette, for what I had said, including from some Conservatives. The local paper itself pointed out that the Tories on occasion said one thing in Seaford on their committee, then voted the opposite way when they got to Lewes.


In one editorial, the Gazette flagged up how one councillor, Irene Hyde, had spoken against a planning application in Seaford, but then voted for it in Lewes. It suggested that when people had voted for Hyde, they had not expected to get Jekyll as well.


Encouraged by the reaction, I worked with local people in the town to establish what became known as the Seaford Alternative Committee. This was composed, it has to be conceded, largely of Lib Dems, but did include a couple of Independents and at least one Tory voter.


It was only ever intended that this should be a short-term arrangement, and I announced at the same time that if the Lib Dems took control in May, we would move to establish a neighbourhood council.


Looking back through the local papers for the early months of 1991, I surprise myself by the sheer range of stories I managed to get covered, whether positive ones about our plans, or negative ones about the Tory administration at Lewes District. I sense that the local press felt it would be more interesting to break the blue hegemony in East Sussex. They were certainly helpful to me.


The stories covered everything from recycling rates to interest rate swaps, where I accused the Tories of playing Monopoly with taxpayers’ money, and recommended that they return to Old Kent Road without passing Go and without collecting £200. It was a good sound bite, but in truth, I probably understood what was a complex issue as little as the Tories I was criticising.


John Eccles, a veteran reporter on the Sussex Express, was always receptive to a good news story. On one occasion we were facing a twin resignation by two Lib Dem town councillors, Ruth Sheen and David Drabble. I asked John on the Monday how he intended to cover it, and he confirmed my fears that this was to be the main front-page story on the Friday. I tried to persuade him that the story did not merit this, but he insisted, rightly in fact, that it did. But he made me an offer that if I came up with a better story, he would put that on the front page instead. I duly brought forward a story I was working on, namely the use of the landfill site at Beddingham as a disposal point for low-level nuclear waste, and the resignation story was duly shunted off the front.


I liked John, who was a character, but he was not averse to cutting corners if he could get away with it. In one edition, he suggested that a house occupied by a woman called Molly had been knocked down, which generated a furious letter from said Molly the following week, from a house still standing. The awkward moment was avoided by a bright sub-editor who titled her letter ‘Good Golly, Miffed Molly’. John was to be crucially helpful in the run-up to the 1997 general election.


As election day 1991 approached, the Lib Dems were buoyed up by a visit to Newhaven and Seaford by Lib Dem leader Paddy Ashdown, which received extensive local and national coverage. The Tories could only manage an unknown junior minister, Baroness Blatch.


I had spent the previous few weeks briefing the local papers that we were on course to take control, and that was reflected in the positive coverage we received in the run-up to election day, with headlines such as ‘Lib Dem Push On Lewes’. I did actually believe we could take control, but would of course have looked rather foolish if we had made but little progress, so positive had my assertions been.


My honest assessment was that it was touch and go whether we would take control, and that it would depend on Seaford, as I had always thought. Then we were given a gift just before the election.


The Conservatives had been amassing a reserve to build the council a new office block, and had managed to put by £1.2 million. They believed that it was inefficient for the council to be operating out of seven different buildings, a view my colleagues and I did not share.


We made it clear in our election literature that we would cancel the office block and spend the reserve more usefully on what the public wanted.


The Tories were forced onto the defensive, and began to backtrack, but then their leader, Keith Moorhouse, issued a leaflet featuring a story headed ‘Creaking Floorboards Face the Chop’, while his colleagues in Seaford were saying the opposite. The contradiction made the front page of the Seaford Gazette on the day before the election.


The results were very good. In what the Brighton Argus called ‘the great Lib Dem landslide’, we went from twelve to twenty-seven seats, and the Tories dropped from thirty to eighteen. In my own ward, in a four-cornered contest, I won 86 per cent of the vote.


And so I found myself leader of the council and, at thirty-three, by some distance the youngest councillor on the authority. I had proven my ability to campaign successfully, but leading an administration of twenty-seven Lib Dems would require a different skill set, and not one I had had very much preparation for, something that would cause problems down the track.


There was, predictably, no formal training available to people in my situation, although I did have a conversation with Martin King, the Lib Dem leader of Adur District Council, along the coast west of Brighton. In due course, there was also help for the group from the Association of Liberal Democrat Councillors, based in Hebden Bridge.


We all assembled in a room at the town hall on the Saturday morning to work out what to do next. I had optimistically booked a large room for this meeting about two weeks earlier, but when we arrived, I was taken aback by the way the room had been laid out. There was a top table with three chairs behind it, facing three or four rows of seating, reminiscent of a schoolroom.


I asked the caretaker why he had set out the chairs as he had. He replied that that was the way Councillor Moorhouse had always required it. We therefore spent the first few minutes reorganising the room, forming a square.


I was determined that the group should operate in a democratic manner, so we then embarked on a long and laborious process to elect chairs and vice-chairs of committees.


I ran into trouble early on when there was a robust contest for chair of the Personnel Committee between two Lewes-based councillors, Mike Chartier and Robert Evans. I personally favoured Mike, who had been a town councillor for four years, while my experience of Robert had led me to conclude, rightly as it turned out, that he might be hard work.


To my dismay, the vote was tied and I had to use a casting vote. Robert made it very clear he thought he was better qualified, which on paper he was, and in the end I reluctantly supported him, but I had not handled the matter well and it showed.


I suspect my arrival as council leader was greeted with horror by Cyril Mann. Here was a whirlwind who was keen to make sweeping changes, whether or not he understood the consequences.


And changes aplenty there were in the first month. I told the chief executive that I wanted to change the hours of the council offices so they were open at lunchtimes. To my great surprise, Cyril enacted this from the very next day. I was not sure if he was being ultra-helpful or trying to stir up anger amongst the staff as a way of encouraging me to slow down.


I also acted to abolish the rather pointless Seaford Consultative Committee, replacing it in the interim with a Seaford sub-committee, constructed, as every other committee or sub-committee was, in proportion to the council result. This meant it would have four Lib Dems and three Conservatives, as well as non-voting representatives from outside groups like the Residents’ Association and the Chamber of Commerce.


Keith Moorhouse called the decision ‘scandalous’ and accused me of establishing a ‘junta’. Independent councillor Graham Mayhew called it ‘a fairly astute political move’.


In line with our election manifesto, we also decided to shift committee meetings from afternoons to evenings, to help councillors in employment, and encourage a wider group of people to stand in future. The average age of our group was much lower than the Tories’, including working-age councillors with children. The Tories were nearly all retired.


Like every other change we made, the Tories complained about it, and it is true that the odd meeting did run very late, even to midnight. However, this was only partly down to our initiatives and quite a lot down to the opposition put up by the Conservative group, so it was a bit rich for them to complain about finishing times.


The Tories could not get used to the changes at all. One of their leading lights, Alf Deats from Newick, had grandly told Mike Chartier a couple of years earlier that we would never take control and never have a Lib Dem as chairman. Now the Tories were frozen in disbelief, matched for its effect only by the sheer sense of wonder many in the Lib Dem ranks felt.


As council leader, I chaired the Policy and Resources Committee. Most of the business we discussed had already been through topic-based committees, but some material, particularly financial matters, came here first. Some of these items seemed rather abstract, such as setting the council’s annual borrowing limit, which I recall being somewhere in the order of £73 million. No doubt this was terribly important, but nobody on the committee really seemed to understand how it worked, what it meant or whether it should be changed, so it tended to go through every year on the nod.


By contrast, decisions about whether to spend £300 on a particular item would elicit many comments and much heated debate, presumably on the basis that everyone had a handle on the concept.


Our ruling group had a relatively thin majority on these committees, and on one occasion we were left in a minority, with one member fewer than the Tories. Whether the Tories did not realise – quite possible – or they were too flat-footed to take advantage of the position I do not know. I did know, however, that the last item on the agenda was controversial and they were bound to oppose it. I also knew that one of our missing number, Graham Mayhew, who by that time had moved from being Independent to joining us, had indicated that he would arrive by a particular time.


I had thought that the meeting would be some way from the final item before he arrived, but for some reason, we made speedy progress that evening and were about to reach the penultimate item about forty-five minutes before his expected arrival time.


That item was one of those that was on every agenda, and normally nodded through without discussion – the Write-Off of Irrecoverable Debts.


I passed an urgent note to the council’s deputy leader, Gordon Hook, telling him he had to keep the item going until Graham Mayhew arrived. Gordon was fantastic and turned in a virtuoso performance, raising points, asking questions, casting doubts. So effective was he that the Tories joined in too, as did other committee chairs, and the debate sailed along until the door opened and Graham Mayhew entered, whereupon I declared, after a minute or so, that I thought we had given the issue sufficient airing and it was time to move on.


We began a series of chief officer appraisals, to measure performance and set targets for the following year. One involved the estates manager, David Brown. David was a smooth, elegant, silver-haired man of about fifty-five, who never saw the need to break out of a walking pace. I got the impression he was a competent officer but was not really going to change his approach in any way as a result of the appraisal process. He was humouring us, in a rather attractive way.


Cyril was somewhat more impatient than I was and at one stage put a rather sharp question to David Brown. A moment’s silence followed while David Brown mused over his reply, and then I suddenly burst out laughing before desperately trying to stifle this outburst.


The rest of the room quite understandably wondered what on earth I was laughing at. The truth is that I had just realised that the interplay of the two officers in front of me – Cyril Mann and David Brown – was not unlike that between Captain Mainwaring and Sergeant Wilson in Dad’s Army, both in physical appearance and temperament. I could not of course share this, so explained it away, not very convincingly, as a coughing fit, though I could not get the Dad’s Army image out of my head for the rest of the meeting as I tried to concentrate on the task in hand.


More controversially, an issue blew up affecting the council’s deputy chief executive, Peter Oldfield, in July, less than three months into the new council. A company of which he was a director and company secretary, the Home Trust, came under heavy criticism by Adur District Council when it was accused of ‘preying on the elderly’. It operated a scheme whereby council tenants were offered cash to buy their homes cut-price, and so live there rent-free for the rest of their lives. Upon their death, the property would transfer to Home Trust.


Adur launched an investigation after an 83-year-old widow was approached by the company. She agreed to the deal and qualified for the highest discount on the property, so the council was paid £13,000. Four months later she was dead and the property was valued at £45,000.


The then leader of Adur District Council, Martin King, told the Brighton Evening Argus that it was important, in his view, for Peter Oldfield, who had acted for the widow, to be named publicly, telling the paper: ‘This whole rigmarole of making money at the loss of housing for the public stinks.’


Adur Council decided to refer the matter to the Law Society.


It turned out that Peter Oldfield had negotiated a contract with the previous Conservative administration to allow him to take part in private ventures. I was not made aware of this when I became council leader, and while I accepted that the activities of the Home Trust were perfectly legal, and that Peter Oldfield had secured permission to undertake private work outside the council (though it was not clear whether anyone was aware of the precise nature of this), I regarded what the Home Trust was engaged upon to be unethical. I also thought it wrong in principle for an officer in such a senior position to have such outside interests, and was furious that I should learn about such arrangements from another authority and a local paper.


There followed an electric meeting behind closed doors involving Peter Oldfield, Robert Evans as chair of the Personnel Committee, and myself. The upshot was an agreement that the deputy chief executive would with immediate effect take extended leave until his contract with the council expired the following June. This was endorsed subsequently by the Personnel Committee.


Following the meeting on 24 July, Peter Oldfield issued a statement defending the activities of the Home Trust, which he said he believed were in the public interest, but also expressing regret for any embarrassment caused to Lewes District Council.


In my response, I accepted that the Home Trust was acting perfectly legally, but added: ‘I regret, however, that Lewes District Council has been sucked into this matter, as I believe it reflects badly on local government. On a personal basis, I regard the activities of Home Trust as distasteful, exploitative and contrary to the spirit of the right-to-buy legislation.’


Following the meeting of the Personnel Committee a few days later, Peter Oldfield and I issued a joint statement saying departure terms had been agreed and that the arrangement was entirely amicable. Cyril Mann told me privately that he thought we had been over-generous with public money.


Cyril, in fact, took the opportunity to announce his own retirement after thirty-three years in local government, and this was noted at the same Personnel Committee meeting.


I was slightly surprised by his decision and indeed worried what the public would conclude from the announced departure of both the chief executive and his deputy within three months of us taking control.


I think Cyril probably did not relish the pace of change, or indeed its direction, from what he had seen since the elections in May and concluded that this was a good time to go. He had in fact had health problems, having suffered a heart attack three years earlier, and I understood that his doctors had advised retirement for some time.


It is also the case that he relied quite a bit on Peter Oldfield and I suspect he knew he would feel Peter’s departure, and certainly, between then and the following June, when his retirement took effect, this was noticeable.


Cyril Mann therefore duly retired on health grounds the following June, but I am happy to say he was still to be seen round Lewes in 2015. Although Cyril and I were from very different moulds, he believed in public service and in the importance of the council, and I respected him for it.


In due course, we appointed a new chief executive, John Crawford, who had been a senior legal officer for Brighton Council. John was professional and very competent and a good choice. He stayed with the council until his retirement in 2011.


I recall his first day in post when I arrived in his office overlooking the lovely gardens at Lewes House, where the council was then based. I had walked up through the garden, eating mulberries off the old tree that had rested in the far corner for so long, and picking mushrooms from the lawn. I was wearing an old T-shirt and jeans, and my hands, holding mushrooms, were purple with mulberry juice. He looked at me slightly askance.


‘John, you’re in a Liberal council now,’ I said, and he laughed.


Amid all the internal reorganisations and preparations for the general election, one major external challenge arose with doubts over the future of the Newhaven–Dieppe ferry. It was to be a running issue throughout the decades ahead.


The ferry crossing is actually the oldest established between Britain and France, having originally begun in 1850. It boasts some interesting associations, including the fact that the father of Vietnam, Ho Chi Minh, served as a pastry cook on the boat in the years following the First World War, having earlier worked on a French steamer from 1911. The Vietnamese government picked up on this and by 2015 they had made plans for a statue near the quayside. To that end, I attended a rather delightful if somewhat surreal celebratory event hosted by the Vietnamese embassy and Newhaven Town Council.


Another association is with Lord Lucan, whose car was found in nearby Norman Road following the death of Sandra Rivett, and the assumption is that he left the country via the ferry to Dieppe.


Newhaven port was owned by British Rail but sold off to Sea Containers in the 1980s by Margaret Thatcher’s government. During their tenure, the company did little with the port, but ascribed to it a high value, presumably to enable them to borrow money against it.


The immediate threat in late 1991, however, came from striking French seamen, with the French press speculating about permanent closure. Cyril Mann and I went to Dieppe to meet the various partners, including the mayor, Christian Cuvillier, and the president of the Chamber of Commerce, Jean-Paul Lalitte, and lobbied ministers on both sides of the Channel, as it looked possible that a decision to end ferry operations might be imminent. In the event, a deal was reached in December to give the ferry a guarantee for six months. Such hand-to-mouth arrangements would sadly become all too common from then on.


Throughout the year I continued to serve as a county councillor, though that inevitably took a back seat to my district role and my preparations for the general election. I could not, however, resist the open goal presented by the Conservative administration’s decision to invest in a new logo, spurred on by the possible reorganisation of local government that was in the air, with the suggestion that county councils might be abolished.
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